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FOREWORD


In 1997, fifty years after Indian Independence, I began writing a column titled ‘Point of View’ for the Indian Express. It appeared without a break for a quarter century, that is, until June of 2022. A year’s 52 weeks multiplied by 25 tells me I wrote a staggering 1,300 columns in all. Some of the pieces were profiles—of artists, politicians, entrepreneurs, criminals and thinkers. The idea then came to me that it would be possible to construct a history of India by looking at a selection of the personalities that have dominated the nation’s attention for 75 years. This book is the fruition of that idea.


Special thanks to Simar Puneet, for editing and steering the book, Sayantan Ghosh for providing the harbour, and to my son Jeet Thayil for everything else.




INTRODUCTION


Is journalism history’s first draft? Much of journalism is reportage, which is understood as the style in which news is reported. This can be factual or biased—and if expert hands are handling the bias, you won’t even notice it. Evidently, what matters is not the journalist but what he reports and how he reports it. Martin Luther King Jr. was enough of a realist to say: ‘We are not makers of history; we are made by history.’ Most politicians in power will say, openly or through their actions, that they are the makers of history. Outwardly, it would appear to be so. Who can deny that Narendra Modi is a maker of current history? The history he makes is a different issue. The logic of power surpasses individual quirks.


But political leaders are a transient phenomenon. Even Jawaharlal Nehru, India’s most venerated prime minister, had his innings and was then put in a corner. Karl Marx got it right when he said: ‘Men make their own history, but they do not make it as they please; they do not make it under self-selected circumstances, but under circumstances existing already, given and transmitted from the past. The tradition of all dead generations weighs like a nightmare on the brains of the living. And just as they seem to be occupied with revolutionising themselves and things, creating something that did not exist before, precisely in such epochs of revolutionary crisis they anxiously conjure up the spirits of the past to their service, borrowing from them names, battle slogans and costumes in order to present this new scene in world history in time-honoured disguise and borrowed language.’


Marx had his own view of India as he lived in an age when India was a synonym for Hinduism. And his view of ‘the religion of Hindostan’ was typical of his times. He saw Hinduism as ‘at once a religion of sensualist exuberance and a religion of self-torturing asceticism; a religion of the Lingam and of the juggernaut; a religion of the Monk and of the Bayadere (a female temple dancer).’


That was a rather crude way of saying that Hindustan had a non-religious concept of Hinduism. It was always a surprise to the uninitiated that Hinduism could be a culture more than a religion. The culture encompassed everything, from the Brahman who was formless, all-inclusive and eternal, to the Atman, the universal self, identified with the external core of personality. The essence of the message is that the individual is basically a soul that uses its body and mind as instruments to gain experience. The experience so gained is used for the well-being of all. The individual working for the common good—that is a civilisational dictum.


This book examines certain individuals who made themselves special by working for the common good. Sometimes their concept of the common good wasn’t very good at all. But that did not reduce their historical significance. What, after all, is the significance history gives to events? Marx gives us food for thought when he says, in the course of an article he wrote for the New York Herald Tribune in June 1853: ‘England has broken down the entire framework of Indian society. This meant loss of the old world, with no gain of a new one. It imparts a particular kind of melancholy to the present misery of the Hindu and separates Hindostan from the whole of its past history.’


The story of the individual helps us to understand melancholy as well.


T.J.S. George


July 2022
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J.R.D. TATA


Public Trust, Public Good


In mid-2012, out of the blue as it was, reports appeared saying that Air India was preparing to sell its art collection, one of the most valuable in the world. This was when the national carrier, mishandled by national leaders for long, had run up a debt of ₹43,777 crore and accumulated losses (in the previous five years) of ₹27,700 crore. Fortunately, the family jewels were not sold at that time. Six years later, in mid-2018, again unexpectedly, came an announcement that the government was open to the idea of putting up the Air India collection as a permanent art exhibition under the custody of the National Gallery of Modern Art. This followed a proposal by an Air India chairman to set up a museum at the airline’s own headquarters in Mumbai’s Nariman Point. A tender was floated, estimating the museum’s cost at ₹3.5 crore. It came to naught when the government decided in mid-2017 to privatise the national carrier. It is another matter that there were no takers for the privatisation idea. What was at stake was a unique collection of about 8,000 artistic treasures. Nearly 4,000 were paintings by masters of Indian art, from M.F. Husain and K.H. Ara to S.H. Raza and V.S. Gaitonde. There were sculptures and woodwork, antique clocks and memorabilia, some of them going back to the 9th century. There were ash trays designed by Salvador Dali, which were meant to be gifted to first class passengers. Air India’s menu cards were famous for the paintings reproduced on them. These too were faithfully collected and listed among the treasures.


What was an airline doing with paintings and sculptures? That is a question that will take us to the magnificence that was Air India in its early days and the shame it became later. It was a proud national flag carrier in every sense of the term until it turned into a national embarrassment following nationalisation. Across the board, nationalisation meant the replacement of visionaries by shortsighted politicians and bureaucrats. It denuded the country of its aesthetics, its joie de vivre, its buoyant liberalism, converting even the cheerful cosmopolitanism of Bombay into the arbitrary micro-culturalism of Mumbai. Air India withered in that climate. But that did not affect either the reputation or the leadership position of ‘the Tatas’, a name that had come to represent all that was good and noble. Behind that reputation were the insights that guided the conglomerate’s founding father, Jamsetji Nusserwanji Tata. When he set out on his mission in the mid-19th century, Jamsetji laid down two principles—keep social responsibilities in mind while pursuing business success, and uphold nationalism in the era of colonialism. The dreams he had developed could not all be realised during his lifetime. But the standards he set helped Tata enterprises develop a character and a social standing that were unequalled. That standing won fresh laurels under J.R.D. Tata whose principle ‘Live life a little dangerously’ gave his persona a touch of glamour. J.R.D. took Jamsetji’s mission to new horizons by building on the humanism that had guided the founder.


It was the Tata approach to life and business that made Air India different from other airlines. Its contributions to the prestige of India were incomparable, significant, and visible. To J.R.D., the founder, Air India was not just an airline. It was a national symbol consciously developed as such when India was beginning to emerge on the world scene. Tata Airlines, founded in 1932, changed into Air India on the eve of independence when there were few airlines in the world and fewer flying across continents. Going abroad was an exceptional experience for ordinary Indians until the 1960s. When Air India’s first flight to London took off from Bombay in June 1948, it had to stop at Cairo and Geneva en route. In a universe still waiting to be opened up, Air India set out to project to the world the wonder that was India. It did so with such dedication and imagination that the world marvelled at the colours of India, the warmth of its hospitality, the variety of its cuisine, and the richness of its art.


The inspiration for all that came from one man. The standards J.R.D. set were high and he would personally check things out from time to time—the cleanliness of the pantry, the freshness of the window curtains, the spotlessness of the toilets. If he wanted improvement somewhere, he would send a polite note to the managers. If Air India’s greatest asset in its formative years was J.R.D.’s vision, J.R.D.’s winning asset was the creative genius of a staffer named S.K. Kooka. He carried a humdrum job title, commercial director, but it was Bobby Kooka who made Air India a household name, and a beloved one at that. He invented the Maharaja as the airline’s mascot, named the flights the Magic Carpet services, and introduced an inflight booklet with the title ‘Foolishy Yours’. The publicity hoardings he put up always made an impact, although one that said ‘We do business in three languages; English, English and English’ rubbed some patriots the wrong way. Kooka not only shared J.R.D. Tata’s ambitions for Air India; he enlarged on them as he translated ideas into action. He wanted Air India offices, especially those abroad, to project India’s cultural splendour. Art became a tool for him. Such was his attention to detail that he put emphasis on the exterior walls of Air India’s offices in Europe’s premier cities. Colourful murals on Indian themes by Indian artists were mounted on the walls making them points of attraction for the locals passing by. The world got a close-up view of India, a colourful one that caused excitement. To realise the dreams he had on the art front, Kooka enlisted the services of Jal Cowasji, officially Air India’s publicity chief, but in reality a connoisseur of modern art respected by aficionados for his knowledge and for the high standards he set for himself. Cowasji was allowed to do what he thought fit. He could buy and commission art. This was at a time when buying art was not common in India, and buying it as an investment was unknown. It was also a time when there were no stellar names in the field. Husain and Ara and B. Prabha and other stalwarts of the Bombay Progressive Group were around, struggling to get some attention and considering themselves lucky if someone bought a painting for three- or four-hundred rupees. Often, Air India paid artists in the form of free tickets. That was the milieu in which Jal Cowasji was able to put together an impressive collection of antiques, jewellery, studio photography, as well as paintings. The general public got a taste of the treasure in 2008 when Air India brought out a coffee table book (Mapin Publishing) with 201 colour illustrations and analyses by four experts.


Interestingly, Air India was not alone in collecting and patronising art in those halcyon days. An unlikely rival was the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research (TIFR). Air India at least had a rationale for its ventures into art; it was a commercial undertaking and projecting the right image was useful for business. TIFR could not possibly come up with any such explanations; it was a government-sponsored science organisation with nuclear physics as its main line of activity. But the man who headed it was Homi Bhabha. If J.R.D. Tata was a visionary, Homi Bhabha was a visionary and an artist. His pencil sketches and pen portraits proclaimed talent of a high order. At a Nagpur conference in 1941, C.V. Raman introduced Bhabha as ‘a modern equivalent of Leonardo Da Vinci’. Another man who appreciated Bhabha’s Leonardo-like double talent in science and art was Jawaharlal Nehru. It was not difficult for Bhabha to persuade the prime minister to let him spend on art acquisition 1 per cent of the funding TIFR received from the government. With this, a collection of about 300 works reached TIFR, including a mural that covered an entire wall in the main building, considered one of the great works of Husain. There were paintings from Tyeb Mehta, Raza, and Gaitonde, and one specially drawn for TIFR by Jamini Roy, a large one by Roy’s standards.


Tata and Bhabha, Kooka and Cowasji—the contributions made by Parsis to the industrial and aesthetic richness of India are astonishing in comparison with the smallness of their numbers. Many of them were international in their training and outlook. J.R.D. Tata was born in Paris to a Parsi father and a French mother and remained a French citizen until his twenties, even serving in the French army as was required of citizens. He later became an Indian citizen. In the 1920s, he was caught speeding on Bombay’s Marine Drive in his Bugatti. He was defended in court by a colourful lawyer of the day, Jack Vicaji, and J.R.D. ended up marrying Jack’s niece Thelma. His long innings as the head of the Tata group saw new marquees coming up: Tata Consultancy Services, Tata Motors, Titan Industries, Voltas, Air India. ‘I don’t want India to be an economic superpower,’ he once said. ‘I want India to be a happy country.’ He was not happy about democracy descending into license. Many were surprised when he made statements that supported Indira Gandhi’s emergency rule on the ground that discipline was essential for a democracy’s health. He was certainly not enamoured by the populism of the Gareebi Hatao kind. He was an admirer of Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel rather than of Jawaharlal Nehru. His explanation of this is included in Keynote: J.R.D. Tata—Excerpts from His Speeches and Chairman’s Statements to Shareholders. He said: ‘While I usually come back from meeting Gandhiji elated and inspired but always a bit sceptical, and from talks with Jawaharlal, fired with emotional zeal but often confused and unconvinced, meetings with Vallabhbhai were a joy from which I returned with renewed confidence in the future of our country. I have often thought that if fate had decreed that he, instead of Jawaharlal, would be younger of the two, India would have followed a very different path and would be in better economic shape than it is today.’ That was a viewpoint commonly heard in business circles. While J.R.D. was frank in making his position clear, he handled his group with shrewdness and acumen. When he assumed charge, the Tatas had 14 enterprises under its umbrella. When he retired, it had 95.


All this belong to a hardly remembered past. India has changed. There are no Tatas and Kookas giving an extra dimension of value to public undertakings and business organisations. Art too nosedived with government favourites taking control. The scandals that overtook the Lalit Kala Akademi from 2013 showed the extent of corruption and self-aggrandisement among bureaucrats appointed as secretaries and administrators. Repeated attempts by successive chairmen to get a secretary removed failed because the minister sided with the secretary. Finally, the minister himself found it impossible to back him. Meanwhile, major artworks disappeared and no one was held accountable.


Political standards had not reached so low when Air India was nationalised in 1953. But it was clear that control by ministers would be different from control by Tata and Kooka. The change was visible even under early civil aviation ministers like Arif Mohammad Khan, Madhavrao Scindia, and Ghulam Nabi Azad, although no major scandals rocked the carrier during their term. Then C.M. Ibrahim got the portfolio for 1997–1998. His landmark decision was to disallow a Tata–Singapore Airlines joint venture for a domestic airline. He said he was ideologically opposed to a foreign carrier operating in Indian skies. Published reports suggested that he was shielding a preferred Indian carrier from strong competition. Sometime after Ibrahim disappeared into political no-man’s-land, Ratan Tata made a public statement that ‘a minister’ had asked for a bribe of ₹15 crore to clear the Singapore Airlines Plan. Ibrahim was followed by Karnataka’s Ananth Kumar (1998–1999). It was his first stint as a minister and it coincided with the determined efforts of a lobbyist for the French aircraft manufacturer Airbus to get an entry into India. The lobbyist was Niira Radia who was to become famous soon as a lobbyist for the Tatas and Reliance among others. Radia’s friendship with the aviation minister paid off and India changed its aircraft acquisition policy in favour of Airbus. Criminal lawyer R.K. Anand discussed this and other issues in a sleazy book he wrote in 2011, under the title Close Encounters with Niira Radia.


Ibrahim and Ananth Kumar were rookies compared to Praful Patel who became civil aviation minister in 2004 and stayed on till 2011. Those seven years are remembered by chroniclers as the years that destroyed Air India. The recklessness of his decisions was so evident that it was surprising that he got away with them. Consider just three. He raised Air India’s order for new aircrafts from 28 to a staggering 68. There was no development plan or revenue scheme backing the decision. The result was that a company with ₹7,000 crore revenue was loaded with a debt of ₹50,000 crore. In another suicidal move, he cancelled the Kozhikode–Doha–Bahrain service. This was the most lucrative of Air India’s sectors. Jet Airways and Etihad quickly moved in to rake in the revenue abandoned by Air India. In the most absurd move of all, he merged Air India with Indian Airlines, virtually killing both birds with one stone. Praful Patel is a shrewd businessman, belonging to a family that became one of the richest in Maharashtra through the beedi business. He could not have been blind to the fatal blows he was dealing to Air India. It had all the signs of a planned sabotage from within to help friends who stood to gain from Air India’s collapse. Jitender Bhargava, a retired executive director of Air India, chronicled the events. No sooner was his book The Descent of Air India out in 2013 than Praful Patel filed a criminal defamation case. This alarmed his publishers, Bloomsbury, who quickly pulped the book and publicly apologised to Patel. Bhargava stood his ground and not only made his study available as an e-book, but brought out a self-published print version in 2016.


After Praful Patel, it was a miracle that Air India survived. Then again, it was no miracle because the survival was solely on account of public money being pumped into it by the government. The real miracle was that the bulk of the art collection was still there in a godown in Bombay. ‘These paintings moved around a lot and it is very difficult to keep track of them,’ said Meera Das, an art historian. The Hindu quoted her in June 2019, saying that officials were wary of participating in any procedure lest they face charges of mishandling or theft. It must be the punya earned by the Tatas that kept Air India’s priceless art collection safe from the government pilferer-rich Akademis. That punya must have started accumulating from the first generation of Tatas who floated the idea that assets should be kept in public trusts run for the public good. Many Tata initiatives were born from that insight.


Perhaps the notion of public good seeped into the Tatas’ collective psyche from the priesthood they pursued as a family tradition. Administering to the spiritual needs of the Persian Zoroastrians in Western India, the early Tatas became respected community elders. Nusserwanji Tata, Jamsetji’s father, was the first to strike out on a new path. Born in Navsari in 1822, he moved to Bombay and started a small export trading firm. Jamsetji joined him as soon as he finished his graduation at Elphinstone College. A succession of travels followed. That exposure to the world became a turning point in the career of Jamsetji, aged 20 then. He understood that industrialisation was the key to the future of the country. He noticed how British companies had monopolised the textile industry, taking advantage of the abundance of cotton in India. He bought a bankrupt oil factory in Bombay, converted it into what he called the Alexandra Textile Mill and later sold it at a profit. He went to England again, this time to study how Manchester had acquired leadership status in the textile industry on the strength of Indian cotton. This led to him starting the Central India Mills at Nagpur, chosen for its strategic location with easy access to cotton-growing areas and convenient railway connections. He renamed it Empress Mills when Queen Victoria was proclaimed Empress of India in 1877.


Jamsetji’s principal asset was his ability to see ahead. His reputation as the first Indian to take the country towards industrialisation rests on his identification of two businesses and two backup projects as keys to the future. Steel production and hydroelectric power were the industries, science education and a hotel that would attract investors the backups. Only the hotel materialised during his lifetime. The other three, conceptualised by him in detail, were pursued by his sons Dorabji and Ratanji and their successors. The steel plant in Jamshedpur became a pace-setter of India’s economic growth. Hydroelectric projects, beginning with the Khopoli plant in Maharashtra, became a lifeline for industrial centres like Bombay and Pune. The Institute of Science in Bangalore acquired a uniqueness that remains unchallenged to this day.


The hotel project cast a spell of its own. There are many folk tales about how Jamsetji Tata happened to build the majestic Taj Mahal Hotel on Bombay’s inner seafront close to the Gateway of India. The most widely circulated story is that it was his response to being refused entry to the city’s Watson’s Hotel with its ‘Whites only’ policy. The more credible story links the hotel to Jamsetji’s ideas of developing the Indian economy. The British editor of a British-owned newspaper in the city apparently urged Tata to build a hotel that would be ‘worthy of Bombay’. What finally emerged was an iconic masterpiece in Saracenic style that became an instant Bombay landmark and continues to be so to this day. In 2017, it became the first building in the country to acquire a trademark status with its architectural design protected under the intellectual property right. The Taj, built as a symbol of India, did not hesitate to take the best from across the world in the course of its construction. When it opened in 1903, it was the first building in Bombay to use electricity and the first hotel in the country to have German elevators, American fans, Turkish baths, and English butlers. It also became the first hotel to have a licensed bar, the first all-day restaurant and the first discotheque in the country. The total construction cost in those days as the 19th century fused into the 20th was ₹4.21 crore, a fraction of the market price of an MLA in 21st century India. The Taj shared its luck with its guests. The cost of the room with attached bath was ₹13 a day, with full board, ₹20.


Rates at the Taj might have been a reflection of the temper as well as the standards of the time. They certainly fitted into Jamsetji’s philosophy of responsible management. What made the founder of the Tata empire different was the importance he attached to social responsibility. Integral to the plans he drew up for the steel plant in Jamshedpur was a settlement for the plant’s workers complete with schooling for their children. He also left instructions on how broad the roads in the township should be, what shady trees must be planted and how generous should be the space allotted to football fields. He also provided for dispensaries, one for men and a separate one for women. Ideas like provident fund and gratuity were introduced when they were virtually unknown to employers and employees alike. This approach would explain an article of faith that J.R.D. Tata developed in his time. ‘To lead men,’ he said, ‘you have to lead them by affection.’


There is no disputing the fact that the Tata name acquired a prestige that no other business house could match. This was a distinction that had an adverse side as well. In 2008, when terrorists attacked Bombay, they picked the recognisably seminal Taj Mahal Hotel as their main target. Gun battles raged in the hotel’s lobbies and corridors for three days and a portion of the building was set on fire. As many as 167 people were killed in the hotel, including staff and guests. With a determination rarely seen in the corporate world, the owners of the hotel set out to restore the property to its familiar glory, the employees playing an exemplary role in the effort. The first foreign head of state who chose to stay at the Taj after the terror attack, Barack Obama, said in 2010: ‘The Taj has been the symbol of the strength and the resilience of the Indian people.’ The House of Tatas as a whole has been a symbol of India’s heritage, its potential, and its inner greatness. The legacy of Jamsetji Tata shines bright, illuminating the best of India.
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SUBHAS CHANDRA BOSE


The Mystery of the Mauni Baba


The thrill effect of the Subhas Chandra Bose saga never fades. His escape from India, his two-month submarine voyage from Germany to Sumatra, his alliance with British India’s wartime enemies, Germany and Japan, the magic of the Indian National Army and its near-capture of Imphal—the Netaji story can be re-read again and again with undiminished excitement. The irony is that, despite the involvement of world powers and successive Indian governments, there is still no certainty about what happened to Bose in the end. Did he die in an air crash? Was he shot dead by the Russians in Siberia? Did he make his way to India? Was he the Mauni Baba who lived for several years in Faizabad? There are many questions, but answers are also in plenty. In 2016, the Narendra Modi government released what was described as the first set of 100 declassified files pertaining to Bose. There were plans, officials said, to release 25 such files each month. The first set provided no new information and public interest diminished, leaving the questions raised from 1945 onwards unanswered.


This is strange, to say the least. It is difficult to believe that the Government of India, and perhaps the governments of Japan, Russia, Britain, and the US, do not have the information necessary to close the Bose file. The Modi government’s talk about declassified files means that classified files still exist. What could be the reason to keep them classified after more than seven decades? Obviously, political interests are involved. It is no secret that Jawaharlal Nehru had animosity towards Subhas Bose. That goes back to the days of the independence movement when Mahatma Gandhi resented the election of Bose as Congress president in 1938. (Bose was forced to resign the following year.) As prime minister, Nehru was reported to have kept a spy-watch on the Bose family. Officially, Nehru accepted the Japanese announcement that Bose died in the 1945 air crash. But did Nehru know more, persuading him to keep an eye on what was happening in the family? India’s viceroy at the time, Archibald Wavell, dismissed the Japanese announcement. ‘I suspect it very much,’ he noted in his diary, and asked his principal assistant to start preparing for the trial of Bose and his associates for war crimes. The colonial government’s Intelligence Bureau submitted a report in October 1945 that said: ‘The general opinion among Indians here [Bangkok] is that Bose is not dead but… has made his way to some place occupied by the Russians.’ Two theories gained ground: that the Japanese conspired with Bose to fake the air crash so that the British would not capture him and put him on trial, and that Bose worked in the prison camps of Stalin’s Siberia.


Other theories strengthened the impression that politics had seeped into the issue. There were reports that files marked ‘Whereabouts of Subhas Chandra Bose’ had disappeared from the Internal Security Division’s desk in the 1970s. What was known as Nehru’s master file on Bose was said to have been destroyed during Indira Gandhi’s rule. Who will confirm such reports irrefutably—or deny them irrefutably? The absence of a final word led to a clutch of books on the subject. Among them are two by Lt Manwati Arya who was born in Burma and joined the INA’s women’s wing, the Rani Jhansi Regiment, in the early 1920s. Arya’s Patriot published in 2007 under the imprint of Lotus Press is a ‘personalised biography’ of Netaji. It is written in flowery language and is replete with exaggerations: Bose’s marriage to Emile Schenkl is described as ‘the divine wedlock’. This approach of the author cast doubt on her credibility. But her second book, Judgment: No Air Crash, No Death, published in 2010, is a compendium of records and stories about Netaji’s disappearance. The burden of the book is that, with Japan collapsing in the war and the British planning to arrest him, Bose wanted to avoid landing in Japan and faked the crash in Formosa (Taiwan) instead. He then escaped to Russia and from there to India. These are not books as understood in the modern idiom. They are amateurish to the core. But some of the records quoted in Judgment have not been denied by the authorities. Therefore, attention needs to be paid to her proposition that Netaji lived as ‘Pardewala Baba’ in Naimisharanya in UP and then as Gumnami Baba in Faizabad and Ayodhya until he died on 16 September 1985. She says that Netaji flew from Saigon to Diren in Manchuria in August 1945 in a Japanese bomber, then drove in a waiting jeep towards Russian territory. There is also a letter purportedly written by Nehru to British Prime Minister Attlee, saying ‘Subhas Chandra Bose, your war criminal, has been allowed to enter Russian territory by Stalin… a clear treachery by the Russians.’


According to Arya, Gumnami Baba in Faizabad would talk at length to visitors from behind a curtain. He would refer to little-known roads and localities in Berlin, Tokyo, Kabul, Singapore. He would mention details about world leaders. For example: ‘Churchill could not pronounce the sound S.’ Among papers catalogued after his death were photocopies of letters written and received by Netaji. Photographs of Netaji’s parents were said to have been in the Baba’s rooms. The book reminds us that it was Hitler who suggested that Netaji travel from Germany to Asia in a submarine to avoid the risk of air travel. The Japanese naval command objected, saying civilians could not travel in a warship in wartime. The Germans said that Bose was ‘by no means a private person, but commander-in-chief of the Indian Liberation Army’. In a risky rendezvous off Madagascar, Bose was transferred to a Japanese Sub.


Two years after Manwati Arya’s book, a journalist came up with the same thesis. Anuj Dhar had worked as a journalist but was so taken up with the Subhas Bose case that he set up the non-profit Mission Netaji Trust and brought out more than one book on the Bose mystery, such as India’s Biggest Cover-Up (Vitasta Publishing, 2012) and What Happened to Netaji (Repro, 2015). He supports the view that Gumnami Baba was Bose. Quoting documents, some of which are said to be classified, he argues that the Congress Party and its senior leader, Pranab Mukherjee, wanted the truth to be kept hidden. Three inquiry commissions examined the issue in detail. Those, too, got mixed up with politics if informed gossip is to be taken into account. The first two commissions were appointed when the Congress Party was in power and they ruled in favour of the air crash death theory. The third commission, headed by Justice M.K. Mukherjee, was appointed by the A.B. Vajpayee government. Although that government did not last, Justice Mukherjee’s inquiry went ahead without any hindrance. After a seven-year investigation, he rejected the theory that Bose had died in a plane crash. The government for its part rejected the commission’s report. Justice Mukherjee made observations that cannot be easily dismissed. He examined 40 trunks with Gumnami Baba’s belongings. Among the contents were documents about the freedom struggle, books in Bengali as well as English, and old photographs of Bose’s family members. He said the handwritings of the sanyasi and Bose ‘matched perfectly’ as certified by the National Institute of Criminology and Forensic science. Off the record, he said, ‘I am one hundred per cent sure that [the sanyasi] was Netaji.’


In 2016, a public interest litigation prompted the Allahabad High Court to set up the Justice Vishnu Sahai Commission to look specifically into the Gumnami Baba issue. It spoke of the problems created by the passage of time. The ‘conclusion’ it reached was that, ‘A majority of the witnesses said that Gumnami Baba was Netaji or may have been Netaji.’ If that sounds non-committal, certainty characterised the thesis put forward by a book that came out a year later, Gumnami Baba: A Case History by Adheer Som (Eastern Book Company). It provided more chapter-and-verse evidence to show that the silent sanyasi was no ‘small-time standard-issue godman’ but a man whose papers included notes about his links with Vietnam and Chinese commanders in the eastern theatre of war.


It would be naive to assume that the Government of India was not aware of the truth about the mysterious Baba. In fact, the Saha Commission reports one of the witnesses saying that he had helped a visitor to meet the Baba in 1981–82, and later discovered that the visitor was Pranab Mukherjee. Manwati Arya’s Judgment says that Indira and Rajiv Gandhi were aware of the identity of the Baba and saw to it that the district administration took discreet steps to ensure his privacy. For any rational citizen these records and assertions should be sufficient to conclude that Subhas Bose returned to his country at war’s end and chose to lead a secluded life as a matter of prudence. That was perhaps the wisest decision Netaji took in his life. If he had revealed his identity and entered public life in newly independent India, we can imagine the mayhem that would have followed. If he had upstaged Nehru and become prime minister, the mayhem could well have developed into a turmoil; Netaji’s concept was that free India should have a dictatorship for at least 20 years. For insights of that kind we need to scan a different set of books.


Among Netaji’s associates during the INA days and early operations in and around Singapore and Thailand was a handful of journalists. Prominent among them were S.A. Ayer, Reuters correspondent in Bangkok, and M. Sivaram, Reuters staffer who became editor of the Bangkok Chronicle. Ayer became minister for publicity in the provisional government-in-exile of Azad Hind that Netaji set up. Sivaram was appointed chief of propaganda. Ayer wrote Unto Him a Witness (1951), a definitive account of Bose’s work in East Asia. Sivaram’s The Road to Delhi (1966) did not receive the academic acceptance that Ayer’s book did, but it provided details that either Ayer was unaware of or did not want to write about. While Ayer hero-worshipped Bose, Sivaram brought in a measure of journalistic scepticism in his portrayal. Long out of print, Sivaram’s book was brought out in a new edition in 2012 by the Institute of Southeast Asian Studies in Singapore. It is a mystery that no Indian publisher kept in circulation this essential telling of an important episode in the history of India.


Sivaram sets the background by providing a thumbnail sketch of Rash Behari Bose, an old revolutionary who had exiled himself to Tokyo and become ‘a thorough-going Japanese, [who] spoke Japanese with an ease and dignity that amazed most Japanese’. He also introduces Rash Behari’s man Friday, Nair-san, a Trivandrum boy who went to Japan, graduated in electrical engineering and then stayed on as a participant in local politics, doing ‘undefined political work in China, Manchuria, Mongolia and Tibet, playing many parts, from camel dealer to Living Buddha’. (Sivaram does not include Nair-san’s evolution in post-war Japan as the owner of Tokyo’s legendary Indian restaurant, Nair Hotel. Newcomers from India were entitled to a free meal there. He married a Japanese lady but changed her name to Janaki Amma).


One of the highlights of the book is Sivaram’s meeting with Abid Hasan, a college dropout who joined Gandhi’s Sabarmati Ashram, then chose to work with revolutionaries who believed in armed struggle against the British. He later went to Germany for engineering studies and became an assistant to Subhas Chandra Bose. He was with Bose in the German U-boat that took him to the east. Sivaram quotes Abid Hasan to reveal that many ideas and phrases that were to become part of history were born during that long voyage underwater. Among the new coinages were ‘Azad Hind’ as the name of liberated India, ‘Jai Hind’ as the mode of salutation and ‘Netaji’ as the designation for Bose. The phrases were dreamed up by Abid Hasan, scion of a nationalist family from Hyderabad. (After Independence, Nehru gave him diplomatic postings in China and the Middle East. He died in Hyderabad in 1984, aged 73.)


Sivaram had long conversations not only with Hasan. Almost every day he and S.A. Ayer would have extended chats with Netaji at his seaside bungalow in Singapore. Consultations scheduled to begin ‘after seven o’clock’ often began sometime after 1:00 a.m. Netaji needed only three or four hours of sleep a day. Sivaram writes about Bose’s fearlessness even in the worst of circumstances. He was full of confidence in himself and the victory of his cause. He insisted on maintaining the style and pageantry of a head of state. Sivaram says that the average Indian’s heart swelled with pride when ‘Subhas travelled in state and insisted on putting on the biggest show possible… Two Japanese military trucks, with mounted machine guns, and a fleet of cars carrying his personal staff, all flying the Indian tricolour, escorted Subhas Bose on his tours. He travelled by the fastest Japanese bomber.’


For all his admiration for Subhas Bose’s courage and charisma, Sivaram had differences of opinion with him. The night-time consultations were often littered with Bose’s criticism of Gandhi and Nehru in pretty strong words. Sivaram found it difficult to agree with this. Nor did he find it easy to accept Bose’s vision of the India he would lead. A small-time magistrate from Bengal named A.N. Sarkar was appointed legal adviser by Netaji and asked to draw up a plan for the reconstruction and unification of liberated India. A comprehensive plan emerged. The plan envisaged, as Sivaram described it, an arrangement under which ‘Politically, India would be welded into one grand dictatorship. There would be dress regulations, food regulations. Khaki shirt and pants for work, white shirt and pants for leisure, spoon and fork to eat with and, if hand was used, no more than three fingers to touch the food.’ The Japanese, says Sivaram, took a dim view of this post-war plan for India, but Netaji was adamant and the plan was broadcast. Fortunately, it remained a plan, leaving India free to develop into a functioning anarchy, free to use all ten fingers while eating.
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MOHANDAS GANDHI


Much too Human


Who and what was Gandhi? That is, Mohandas Karamchand, not the spelling manipulator Feroze Ghandy who altered his Parsi name and thereby created a succession of faux Gandhis, from Indira to Rajiv to Sonia to Rahul. Feroze said he changed the spelling as he got involved in the independence movement and became a worshipper of the Mahatma. In the process, he created a convenient confusion about the Ghandies-turned-Gandhis being blood relations of the Porbandar Gandhi.


Mohandas Karamchand was pure Gujarati with no trace of Parsi blood in him. It can be said that he stopped being a Gujarati and became an Indian, something many political leaders claim without the beatific conviction the Mahatma inspires. The rise to virtual sainthood was not easy. He let his wife feel unwanted. When he did recognise her presence, he treated her as though she was the house servant. He wasn’t a responsible father either. Although as M.K. Gandhi he went to London and qualified as a barrister, as the Mahatma he took the view that formal education was not good. This meant that his children were ‘educated’ at the Phoenix Settlement and Tolstoy Farm he set up in South Africa. Manilal was one of the first ‘experimental students’. The subjects taught at the farms were manual labour and character building. Clearly the Mahatma had put his new-found idealism above the realities that he himself benefited from. Was his idealism hurt by overkill?


Eldest son Harilal felt so neglected that he rebelled, became a drunkard, and, in a final defiance of father, converted to Islam. He also took to selling foreign goods just because his father had appealed for their boycott in favour of Swadeshi. He died a broken man. Second son Manilal saved himself by staying in South Africa to do social work. Nelson Mandela once said that Manilal’s ‘gentle demeanour seemed the personification of non-violence’. He became the editor of Indian Opinion, a Gujarati-English weekly published from Durban. He died in 1956 after a stroke.


Ramdas Gandhi was not all that enamoured of his father’s self-denying asceticism. But he lived up to the name, participating in civil protests and going to jail many times. It was the youngest son, Devdas, who achieved distinction by carving out a career for himself. He did become active in the Gandhian movement, but he drifted to journalism and became editor of the Hindustan Times in Delhi. In his personal life, too, Devdas showed he was different. His marriage became as famous as his career because he fell in love with a girl who was not only from the south of India but was only 15 at the time—13 years younger than him. She was from a distinguished political family, being the daughter of ranking nationalist leader C. Rajagopalachari. The Mahatma and C.R. shared the view that Lakshmi was too young to marry. Thinking of a democratic solution to the problem, the fathers suggested that Devdas and Lakshmi wait it out for five years without seeing each other. The lovebugs agreed. It took unusually long for five years to pass, but at the end of it they were married.


Such was the halo that surrounded Gandhi that even his unloving approach to his family was applauded as a sacrifice in the service of the nation. It was from the depths of admiration that the title of Mahatma emerged as a people’s tribute. The popular belief is that the title was bestowed on him by Rabindranath Tagore. However, Narayan Desai, son of Gandhi’s secretary Mahadev Desai, held the view that the title was coined by an anonymous journalist in Jetpur, a town in Rajkot district.


Perhaps people in his home district were the first to notice that Gandhi had a mission that extended beyond their jurisdiction and indeed their country to embrace the whole world. Gandhi’s mission covered not just politics but also people’s way of life, their food habits, their dress, their attention to matters of health, their morals. Gandhi was no orator, but his themes and the passion with which he promoted them gave historic importance to some of his speeches—his 1931 speech on the eve of the Dandi March to break the salt laws, his 1942 speech that added two immortal phrases to the annals of history, ‘Quit India’ and ‘Do or die’.


What can only be described as an astonishing speech was delivered in court in 1922. An article he had published in Young India had led to a trial over the charge of ‘bringing or attempting to excite disaffection towards His Majesty’s Government’. Called upon to plead to the charges, Gandhi endorsed the charges against him because ‘…it is very true that to preach disaffection towards the existing system of government has become almost a passion with me… I do not ask for mercy. I am here to invite and cheerfully submit to the highest penalty that can be inflicted upon me for what in law is a deliberate crime, and what appears to me to be the highest duty of a citizen.’ The judge, an ICS Englishman, was shaken. He sentenced Gandhi to six years in prison but said, ‘Even those who differ from you in politics look upon you as a man of high ideals and of noble and even saintly life.’


Circumstances led to Gandhi writing what became an autobiography. But the title he chose reflected his outlook on life. The Story of My Experiments with Truth was originally written for serialisation in Navajivan and Young India. He explained that it was not his purpose to attempt a ‘real’ autobiography. ‘I simply want to tell the story of my experiments with truth, and as my life consists of nothing but experiments, it is true that the story will take the shape of an autobiography. But I shall not mind if every page of it speaks only of my experiments.’ Appearing in 166 instalments between 1925 and 1929, Gandhi’s narrative was lauded both for its linguistic style and for its transparent honesty. He acknowledged three men whose writings had influenced him—Leo Tolstoy, especially his The Kingdom of God is Within You, John Ruskin and his Unto This Last and the poet Shrimad Rajchandra.


Inspired by ethically evolved personalities, Gandhi became one of the most influential persons of the 20th century. But all his achievements came under critical scrutiny in the course of time. That a Gandhi statue was removed from a university campus in Ghana told its own tale. African activists even devised a hashtag #GandhiMustFall to show their anger at some of Gandhi’s early writings. They saw Gandhi as a racist who considered white people in south Africa as ‘the predominating race’ and blacks as ‘troublesome and dirty’. Jawaharlal Nehru apparently told Richard Attenborough, director of the film Gandhi, not to ignore Gandhi’s ‘weaknesses, his moods and his failings’. The Mahatma is ‘much too human,’ Nehru said.


Gandhi’s experiments with celibacy also led to considerable disaffection among his close associates. He was in his seventies when, in 1946, he asked Manu, his niece aged 19, to sleep in his bed for him to test his sexual urge and celibacy vows. Later, he would ask his great-nephew’s wife Abha also to participate in this experiment. His doctor, Sushila Nayar, was said to have bathed with him. Many of his associates openly criticised this attitude of Gandhi. A stenographer even resigned in protest.


Gandhi’s overall views on women reflected the male chauvinist in him. Referring to rape, he once wrote: ‘It is physically impossible to violate a woman against her will. The outrage takes place only when she gives way to fear or does not realise her moral strength. If she cannot meet the assailant’s physical might, her purity will give her the strength to die before he succeeds in violating her. However beastly the man, he will bow in shame before the flame of her dazzling purity.’* Chauvinism mixed with highfalutin moralism persuaded Gandhi to make such overblown declamations.


Many saw Gandhi as a supporter of the caste system. Of course, he denounced the concept of untouchability, but he also believed that the caste system helped to keep the social order harmonious. Critics have said that Gandhi was keen not to alienate the upper castes. Apoorvanand, a professor at Delhi University, said in October 2019 that Gandhi had been reduced to ‘…a ritualistic presence in our collective life. He has been made a lifestyle guru, a feel-good presence—something he never was.’ Rajmohan Gandhi, the Mahatma’s grandson, has been a prolific writer on his grandfather. He once said: ‘There is a stubborn core of people who have understood him and know that Gandhi represents the better angels of the Indian nature.’ But just as stubborn are those who think of him as a devil.


In an article in The Atlantic in July 1922, when Gandhi was but 53, Edmund Candler showed how complex a personality Gandhi was, ‘…in turn patriot, martyr, high-souled idealist, and arch-traitor; evangelist, pacific quietist, and truculent tub-thumber and revolutionist; subverter of empires and founder of creeds, a man of tortuous wiles and stratagems, or, to use his own phrase, “a single-minded seeker after truth”; generally, in the eyes of the tolerant who are without prejudice, a well-meaning but misguided politician. Certainly a complex figure.’ He concluded in dismay: ‘Probably very few, even of the Anglo-Indian community on whom his personality impinges directly, a very substantial incubus, have made up their minds which of these things he is.’


A student of the Bible, Gandhi once wrote: ‘Supposing I was deprived of the Gita and forgot all its contents, but had a copy of the Sermon on the Mount, I should derive the same joy from it as I do from the Gita.’ But he also wrote: ‘If a person wants to believe in the Bible, let him say so, but why should he discard his own religion? This proselytization will mean no peace in the world.’


Gandhi was in his time a new voice and a new force influencing the minds of people in his country and beyond. His ideas were as bold as they were novel. The concept of non-violence was something that elicited grudging admiration even from critics. Civil disobedience, even more so; the very suggestion that disobedience to the government could be civil roused curiosity. Gandhian ideas provided humanity with alternatives to war and rebellion. They turned into ideas that shaped the world.
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NATHURAM GODSE


Murder as Duty


January is cold in Delhi. But that never interrupted Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi’s prayer meetings in the green compound of the Birla family. In 1948, barely six months after independence, he conducted his usual prayers with the usual followers in attendance. One man among them was not usual, though. He attended the meeting not to pray or to be part of the Gandhian movement. He waited until the prayers were over, and as Gandhi made his way out through the crowd, the man took out his revolver and shot the Mahatma three times at point-blank range. Gandhi had no chance. He fell to the ground forward and soon was dead. The assassin, Nathuram Vinayak Godse, was unmoved. Even when arrested and tried and sentenced to death, no emotion showed on his face. There was only the contentment of a committed ideologue who had served his ideology with stunning success. Godse was hanged. He must have died with the satisfaction of a life spent for the good of his country, his people, and his articles of faith.


The relationship between power and ideology is a vastly discussed topic with a great deal of research and theories providing the background. Generally uncontested is the postulation that intellectual and technological elites play a vital role in the success or otherwise of government policies. It is also accepted that intellectual exertion can lead one into negativity and self-destruction. John Wilkes Booth was very much a thinker. His thoughts led him to the conclusion that the abolition of slavery in the United States was a mistake, and so he assassinated Abraham Lincoln. His conviction gave him the courage to commit a crime. It did not justify the crime because his conviction was contrary to the common good.


Booth did realise that he was doing something wrong and had made elaborate arrangements to escape from law enforcers. Nathuram Godse did nothing of the kind. He was convinced that it was his duty to kill Gandhi for spreading ‘anti-Hindu’ ideas. He couldn’t stomach the partition of India, which he described as an ‘abject surrender to Jinnah’. He said it was wrong to call Gandhi the father of the nation; he was the Father of Pakistan. Godse put up a powerful, remorseless defence of himself, reflecting his ideological conviction about the non-rights of Muslims. Saying that he did not desire any mercy from the authorities, he made it clear that ‘my confidence about the moral side of my action has not been shaken even by the criticism levelled against it on all sides’.


In a newspaper article in 2016, Tushar Gandhi made the point that Godse was inept and incapable of succeeding without the support of an organisation. ‘There were two organisations with whom all the accused were closely associated—the RSS and the Hindu Mahasabha. For some strange reason, despite clues and confessions, these two organisations were never investigated.’* (Actually they were, but perfunctorily.)


According to Manohar Malgonkar who wrote the acclaimed book The Men Who Killed Gandhi, Godse and Apte were adventurists who liked to brag about their capabilities. They would impress Vinayak Savarkar, the messiah of Hindutva militancy, with proposals of daring action against Muslims, the Muslim League and the Nizam of Hyderabad. Once Savarkar blessed them, they would get the necessary finance from members of the RSS and the Hindu Mahasabha. For a proposed raid on the Nizam’s revenue agencies, they asked an affluent family for one of their large limousines. As Tushar Gandhi puts it: ‘Three weeks went by. When no news of raids on the Nizam was reported, the car’s owner came looking for his vehicle and found Apte romancing his girlfriend in the car.’


Decades after the murder of Gandhi, Godse is not short of admirers. Pragya Thakur, a BJP Member of Parliament, described Godse as a ‘desh bhakt’, a patriot. Pragya is considered an extremist even by many BJP leaders, so her praise of Godse surprised no one. Narendra Modi disowned Thakur by saying, ‘I’d never be able to forgive her fully.’ Did he mean that he could forgive her partially? A prominent party MP, Sakshi Maharaj, went on record with his statement that, ‘Godse was a patriot just like Mahatma Gandhi.’ He was echoing RSS chief Mohan Bhagwat’s view.


Once again problems rose from seeing politics through a religious viewfinder. For Mohan Bhagwat, ‘Every Hindu is a patriot.’ So Godse was as much a patriot as Gandhi. By the same yardstick, non-Hindus are not patriotic, period. This approach is unhelpful even for the majority of Hindus who consider themselves Indians first. That is why the RSS remains an extremist platform unacceptable to vast numbers of Hindu citizens. But extremists are heroes for many. Hitler was seen by large numbers of his people as a patriot, ready to die for his country. The mass killings he carried out were in the name of his country. Reginald Dyer became the ‘butcher of Amritsar’ by opening fire on unarmed civilians in the closed area that was Jallianwala Bagh. Even Winston Churchill, the Grand Imperialist, called the massacre a ‘monstrous event’. But his countrymen collected upwards of £26,000 for Dyer in appreciation of his work. Rudyard Kipling called him ‘the man who saved India’. Godse’s countrymen have done better. In 2015, the Hindu Mahasabha released a film titled Deshbhakt Nathuram Godse. Bhumi Pujan for a Godse temple was performed in Meerut in 2014. A statue of Godse was unveiled in that city on Gandhi Jayanti day in 2016. Chief Minister Yogi Adityanath even proposed that Meerut’s name be changed to Godse City. The New York Times reported (February 2020) that more than a dozen statues of Gandhi’s killer have been erected across the country and that ‘several Hindu temples are being converted into Godse temples’. At the same time, several Gandhi memorials have been defaced, at least one statue decapitated and the word ‘traitor’ scrawled on his pictures.* The reason given for hating Gandhi is that he betrayed Hindus by being too conciliatory to Muslims and by allowing Pakistan to break off. There is a move from some Hindu nationalists in Uttar Pradesh to persuade the government to insert a special chapter in school textbooks presenting Godse as a visionary who championed the creation of a Hindu nation, the same philosophy to which the Narendra Modi government subscribes. The Meerut chapter of the Hindu Mahasabha holds prayer meetings in temples across Uttar Pradesh and promotes the line that this is the time, under Narendra Modi, to turn India into a Hindu nation.


New generation BJP leaders speak in modern parliamentary idiom. Experienced Lok Sabha member that he is, Rajnath Singh condemns ‘any philosophy that describes Godse as a patriot’. He said: ‘If someone considers Nathuram Godse as a desh bhakt, then our party condemns it. Mahatma Gandhi is an idol for us, he was our guiding light and will remain so.’


Idols and guiding lights are as good or as bad as their interpreters. The interpretation of Gandhi as the creator of Pakistan and therefore a destroyer of India is too deep-rooted in the Hindutva mentality to be ignored. Godse, let it not be forgotten, found inspiration in the intellectual giants of history. He was steeped in readings of Marxism, socialism, Dadabhai Naoroji, Gandhi, Savarkar, Vivekananda, Gokhale. After reading them, Godse said, ‘Thinking led me to believe it was my first duty to serve Hinduism and Hindus both as a patriot and as a world citizen.’ Vivekananda and Gokhale, let alone Naoroji and Gandhi and Marx, never propagated a religion-based patriotism. Godse was only proving that an activist could always find heroes who could be used to justify whatever needed to be justified. Godse said: ‘In condemning history’s towering warriors like Shivaji, Rana Pratap and Guru Gobind Singh as misguided patriots, Gandhiji has merely exposed his self-conceit.’ He twisted the knife by asserting that Gandhi was ‘a violent pacifist who brought untold calamities on the country in the name of truth and nonviolence, while Rana Pratap, Shivaji and the Guru will remain enshrined in the hearts of their countrymen forever for the freedom they brought to them’.


That was not enough for Godse. He had to go further and find a specific reason to justify murder. He put it as strongly as he could. ‘The accumulated provocation of thirty-two years, culminating in his last pro-Muslim fasts, at last goaded me to the conclusion that the existence of Gandhi should be brought to an end immediately.’


All countries have citizens who turn against those in power, seeing them either as under-performers or as performing in the wrong direction. That is why even in democracies, presidents and prime ministers are surrounded by multiple security rings—as though people’s elected representatives are in dire need of protection from the people. This is one of the ironies of democracy. Narendra Modi is flanked by soldiers with their fingers on the trigger of their guns. That is what is seen. What is unseen is scarier. When the prime minister steps out of his house, traffic on the whole route is blocked for ten minutes. Two vehicles of the Delhi police patrol the route with their sirens on. More than 500 commandos of the SPG are permanently stationed around the PM’s residence. The convoy that invariably follows the PM has two armoured BMW sedans, one Mercedes Benz ambulance and a Tata Safari jammer besides Delhi police vehicles. The jammer vehicle is conspicuous with the forest of antennas they carry. These antennas can diffuse bombs on either side of the road. Altogether there are about a hundred trained specialists who accompany the prime minister on his outings. And his car is very special. If the tyres are punctured, for example, the car can still run 320 km at a speed of 90 km an hour. The SPG protection for the prime minister has a budget of close to ₹600 crore. Not too high when we realise that the PM’s residence in the country’s most expensive area, Lutyens’ Delhi, spreads over 12 acres comprising five bungalows. A two-kilometre-long underground tunnel connects the residence to Safdarjung Airport.
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